~Elston, Michael {(ODAG)

From: Sampson, Kyle
Sent: _Mg s : i

- To: Goodling, Monica; Elston, Michael (ODAG)
Subject: Re: Draft chart for AG review'- NONPUBLIC
Goéod, thx.
————— Origihal Message-----

- From: Goodling, Monica
To: Elston, Michael (ODAG) ; Sampson, Kyle
Sent: Mon Feéb 12 21:10:00 2007
Subject: Draft chart for AG review - NONPUBLIC

This is the chart that the aG requested. 1I'll show it to him on the plane tomorrow, if
" Hé's interested. . : o

<<US Attorney chart- AG.docs>
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Elston, Michael (ODAG)

From: ' Chiara, Margaret M. (USAMIW) [MM.Chiara@usdoj.gov]
‘Sent: : s y 14,2007 1027 PM

To: Elston, Michael (ODAG) '

Subject: Status

I am confident that Paul deftly handled the senatorial scrutiny. However, I do need to
know if my identity was disclosed. Announcement date and departure date must be
‘confirmed. Margaret

Sent from my_BiackBerry Wireless Handheld.

----- Original Message----=-

‘From: Elston, Michaél (ODAG) <Michael.Elston@usdoj.govs
To: Chiara, Margaret M. (USAMIW) <MChiara@usa.doj.govs>
Sért: Mon Feb 12 20:24:01 2007 .

Subject: RE: NAIS Meeting

Please give me a call at 202-307-2090 when you have a minute; need to
discuss a related issue with you. o

----- Original Message----- :

From: Chiara, Margaret M. (USAMIW) {mailto:MM.Chiaraeusdoj .gov]
Sent: Monday, February 12, 2007.5:36 PM

To: Elston, Michael (ODAG)

Cc: McNulty, Paul J

Subject: Re: NAIS Méeting

This is a good call. Thank you. I am aware of the required procedure
to secure subcommittee assignments. The 2 interims were invited to
ensure continuity of seérvice to théir district's Indian Country
population Now that NAIS is convening om March 13 + 14, am I chairing
.the meeting and departing on March 16 or shall I work out other
arrangements with NAIS members after I announce on Feb. 237 Margaret

Sent from my BlackBerry Wireless Handheld

----- Original Message-----
From: Elston, Michael (GDAG) <Michael.Elstoneusdoj.govs
. To: €Chiara, Margaret M. (USAMIW) <MChiara@usa.doj.govs>
CC: McNulty, Paul J <Paul.J.McNulty@usdoj.gov>; Shappert, Gretchen
(USANCW) <GShappert@usa.doj.gov> ’
Sent: Mon Feb 12 15:43:49 2007
Subject: NAIS Meeting

Margaret:

I have spoken to Gretchen Shappert, and, as you recommended and based on
the additional information Gretchen provided, I have concluded that it
makes sense tO keep the meeting date as scheduled in March despite the
absence of some long-time members of the subcommittee.

You also mentioned that two new members of the subcommittee from Arizona
and Western Washington would attend. I don't have any problem with the
interims from Arizona and Western Washington attending, but I wanted to
‘make it clear that they are not members of the subcommittee. New U.S.
Attorneys do not simply succeed their predecessors on AGAC or its
subcommittees, and normally interims are not made members of AGAC
subcommittees except in unusual circumstances. There is a process for
appointment to subcommittees, and neither interim has been appointed to
the subcommittee.
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Thanks again for bringing this issue to my attention.

Mike
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Re: Status ' B : ' © Pagelof2

Elston, Michael (ODAG)

From: Chiara, Margaret M. (USAMIW) [MM.Chiara@usdoj.gov]
Sent:  Thursday, February 15, 2007 11:25 AM

To: Elston, Michael (ODAG)

Subject: RE: Status

| am eniormously relieved. : .
Additional time would be helpful and appreciated. .As you would expect, | daily pursue options. At the outset, |
assumed that my "next step" would be resolved by now. Thank you for making an effort on my behalf.

Margaret:

. From: Elston, Michael (ODAG) )
Sent: Thursday, February 15, 2007 10:51 AM
To: Chiara, Margaret M. (USAMIW)

- Subject: Re: Status -

Your name did not come up. We are still mulling over the date.. I assume that you would not mind additional time if T can
achieve consensus on that here? . ’ '

—--Original Message—--- .

From: Chiara, Margaret M. (USAMIW) <MM.Chiara@usdoj.gov>
To: Elston, Michael (ODAG) - :
Sent: Wed Feb 14 22:26:51 2007

Subject: Status

. ‘1 am confident that Paul deftly handled the senatorial scrutiny, However,Ido need to know if my identity was disclosed.
Announcement date and departure date must be confirmed. Margaret :

—---Original Message—--

From: Elston, Michael (ODAG) <Michael.Elston@usdoj.gov>

To: Chiara, Margaret M. (USAMIW) <MChiara@usa.doj. gov>

Sent: Mon Feb 12 20:24:01 2007 '

Subject: RE: NAIS Meeting . ) |

Please give me a call at 202-307-2090 when you have a minﬁte; need to
discuss a related issue with you. :

-----Original Message——- .
From: Chiara, Margaret M. (USAMIW) [mailto:MM.Chiara@usdoj.gov]
Sent: Monday, February 12, 2007 5:36 PM 5

To: Elston, Michael (ODAG)

Cc: McNulty, Paul J

Subject: Re: NAIS Meeting

This is a good call. Thank you. Iam aware of the required procedure

to secure subcommittee assignments. The 2 interims were invited to
ensure continuity of service to their district's Indian Country

population Now that NAIS is' convening on March 13 + 14, am I chairing
the meeting and departing on March 16 or shall I work out other
arrangements with NAIS members after I announce on Feb. 23? Margaret

DAG000000708
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Re: Status . 2 N ‘ Page 2 of 2

-——-Original Message—--- .
From: Elston, Michael (ODAG) <Michael Elston@usdoj.gov>
. To: Chiara, Margaret M. (USAMIW) <MChiara@usa.doj.gov>
- CC: McNulty, Paul ] <Paul. J.McNulty@usdoj.gov>; Shappert, Gretéhen
(USANCW) <GShappert@usa.doj.gov> :
Sent: Mon Feb 12 15:43:49 2007
Subject: NAIS Meeting

Matga.ret:

I have spoken to Gretchen Shappert, and, as you recommended and based on
the additional information Gretchen provided, I have concluded that it
mmakes sense to keep the meeting date as scheduled in March despite the
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
make it clear that they are not members of the subcommittee. New U.S,
Attomneys do not simply succeed their predecessors on AGAC or its )
subcommittees, and normally interims are not made members of AGAC
_subcommittees except in unusual circumstances. There is a process for
appointment to subcommittees, and neither interim has been appointed to
the subcommittee. '

Thanks again for bringing this issue to my attention.

Mike
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Elston, Michael (ODAG)

From: Elston, Michael (ODAG)

5 ednesday, February 14, 2007 7:17 PM
To: Goadling, Monica - '
Subject: Chiara

DAG favors hiring her as an AD at the NAC.
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Elston, Michael (ODAG)

From: Elston, Michael (ODAG)

Sent: Thursday, February 15, 2007 4:51 PM

To: Goodling, Monica; Heértling, Richard; Nowacki, John (USAEQ)
Subject: RE: Release

1 have spoke to Kevin.

. From: Goedling, Monica .
Sent: Thursday, February 15, 2007 4:41 bM
To: Hertling, Richiard; Elston, Michael (ODAG); Nowacki, John (USAEQ)
Subject: Release

Richard - Schools is informing his staff right now. Nowacki is calling the judge. Elston is calling Kevin Ryan. You are
clear to go ahead and start calling the Senators. .
All - Please confirm once you have completed your calls and we'li get the release to SDCA at that point. Thanks.

<< File: Hewitt - Schools Release.pdf >>
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Elston, Michael (ODAG)

From: Elston, Michael (ODAG)
C Tor Macaulay, Luke (USACAN) S
" Ce: Ryan, Kevin (USACAN); Choi, Eumi (USACAN); Scolinos, Tasia
.:Subject: Press Release .
Attachiments: Hewitt - Schools Release.pdf
‘Luke:

Attathied is a press release that we would like to have issued from NDCA
ds soon as possible. | have spoken with Kevih about it. When you have
issued the press release, please reply to this message with confirmation
that it has been released to the media.

Thank you for your assistance.

Mike

Hewitt - Schools -
Release.pdf (...

Michael J. Elston
Chief of Staff and Counselor
_to the' Deputy Attorney General
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W., Room 4210 .
Washington, D.C. 20530
(202) 307-2090
(202) 514-9368 (fax)
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Elston, Michael (ODAG)

From: Elston, Michael (ODAG)

Sent: : Friday, F y-16, 2007 3:25 PM
To: ' Chiara, Margaret M. (USAMIW)
Subject: Re:FYlonly . '

Please call me at 202 305 5872.

-----0riginal Message----- . R

From: Chiara, Margaret M. (USAMIW) <MM.Chiara@usdoj.govs
To: Elston, Michael (ODAG)

-Sent: Fri Feb 16 15:16:25 2007

Subject: Re: FYI only

Just when I thought I had dodged a bullet.......... freesie.... I am away from Michigan
until Tuesday. However, I am ready to deal with whatever must be  confronted with help
‘from wmy assistant and FAUSA. In order to issue the press release, I do need my departure
date. Our last exchange was pre (March 9) and post (March 16) NAIS. So, can we make it
mid March in case I am compelled to announce -even before February 237 Margaret -

Sent. from my BlackBerry Wireless Handheld

————— Original Message----- .

From: Elston, Michael (ODAG) <Michael.Elston@usdoj.govs>

To: Chiara, Margaret M. (USAMIW) <MChiara@usa.doj.govs .
Sent: Fri Feb 16 13:30:50 2007

Subject: FW: FYI only ’

Margaret:
In the category of forewarned, forearmed..

Mike

From: Goodling, Monica

Sent: Friday, February 16, 2007 12:35 PM
To: Elston, Michael (0ODaG) - )

. Subject: FW: FYI only

FYI - Looks like someone is trying to.out Chiara and it may break soon. Dan Eagan called
Rachel Paulose's office this morning and said he was following up on a tip that a female
U.S. Attorney in the midwest was asked by Main Justice to step down from her post on
December 7. Rachel's office told him it could not have been her because she wasn't even
‘confirmed until December 9. He said, "Sorry. Bad tip. Ignore the call.w®

From: Paulose, Rachel (USAMN) [mailto:Rachel;Paulose@usdoj.gov]
Sent: Friday, February 16, 2007 12:32 PM .

To: Goodling, Monica; Roehrkasse, Brian

Subject: FYI only

<<Press Inguiry>> <<Telephone Calls>>

Rachel K. Paulcse
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United States Attorney, District of Minnesota
600 U.S. Courthouse :

300 South Fourth St.
"Minneapolis, MN 55415

(612) 664-5600

rachel.paulose@usdoj.gov

DAGO00000714



Elston, Michael (ODAG) E

From: o Elston, Michael (ODAG) ]

5 Friday, 16,2007 3:36 PM
To: . * Goodling, Monica; McNulty, Paul J; Sampson, Kyle
Subject: - FwW: ’

I have a one-member fan club in Californiai

From: Ryan, Kevin (USACAN) [mai],to:Kz_avin.Ryan@us&oj.gov]

Sent: Thursday, February 15, 2007 10:17 PM

To: Elston, Michael (ODAG)

Cc: Ryan, Kevin (USACAN)

Subject:

ﬁike{

You have been a gentleman in your dealihgs with me, and I appreciate it.

Thanks, '
Kevin

Sent from my GoodLink synchronized handheld (www.good.com)
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Thank you ' " Page 1 of 1

Elston, Michael (ODAG)

From: Margolfs, David

Sent:  Monday, February 19, 2007 2:49 PM
~To: . Moschella, William; Eiston, Michael (ODAG)
» Subject: FW: Thank you ’

here is my proposed response- any qualms or suggestions? .
Carol: sorry that we did not have an epportunity to say.goodbye last week. i am confident that you will have great s
Best Wishes, .

David.

From; Lam, Carol (USACAS) [mailto:Carol.Lam@usdoj.gov]
Sent: Friday, February 16, 2007 1:19 AM

To: Margolis, David :

Subject: Thank you .

'David,

. I've really enjoyed every minute of my time as U.S. Attorney. Thank you for helping me have that experience, and
for your valuable counsel over the years. | hope that life continues to treat you well.

Warmest regards,

‘Caral

Contact information:

(Beginning February 26, 2007):
..Carol Lam .

: DAGO00000716
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Elston, Michael (ODAG) -

From: . Elston, Michael (ODAG)

: A 19,2007 8:57 PM
To: Margolis, David; Moschella, Wiiliam
‘Subject: Re: Thank you g

Fine, except that you do not Have an expense account ...

————— Original Message-----

From: Margolis, David . .

To: Moschella, William; Elston, Michael (ODAG)
Sent: Mon Féb 19 14:49:03.2007

Subject: FW: Thank you

here is my proposed response- any qualms or suggestions?
Carol: sorry that we did not have an opportunity to say goodbye last week. i am confident
that you will have great success in your new endeavor and i wish you all the best. When
you come to D.C., i would like to take you to lunch on my expense account.
Best Wishes,

David

From: Lam, Carol (USACAS) [mailto:Carol.Lam@usdoj.gpv]
Sent: Friday, February 16, 2007 1:19 AM

To: Margolis, David

Subject: Thank you

David,

I've really enjoyed e#ery minute of my time as U.s. Attorney. Thank you for helping me
have that experience, and for your valuable counsel over the years. I hope that life
continues to treat you well. :

Warmest regards(

Carol

Contact information:

(Beginning February 26, 2007):
Carcl Lam
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Re: FYI only

Page 16f1

Elston, Michael (ODAG)

From: Chiara, Margaret M. (UéAMIW) [MM.Chiara@usdoj.gov]

Sent: Wednesday, February 21, 2007 11:18 AM '
- To: Elston, Michael (ODAG)

Subject: WDMI - ASAP

Importance: High -

. ‘ .

. | .
Please contact me via cell phonel or through my office 616-456-2404

. Assistant Karrie Wichtman) regarding end date and interim. Press release and several
mailings are presently being prepared. :

Margaret

-DAGO00000718
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‘WDMI Update . ' o ' Pagelof1

Elston, Michael (ODAG)

From: Chiara, Margaret M. (USAMIW) [MM.Chiara@usdoj.gov]
. Sent:  Wednesday, February 21, 2007 5:13 PM :

To: °  McNulty, Paul J v

Cc: Elston, Michael (ODAG)

Subject: WDMI Update *

Paul: My thanks for your telephone call this afternoon. '

I'did some quick checking. It appears that information about me is beginning to
circulate in the district. | have expended an enormous amount of effort trying to
contain this situation. Therefore, | believe that staying with the February 23 )
announcement date is the best approach. All | need to go forward is the departure -
date. 1 now understand that there isto be no mention of the interim appointment in
the press release. [ will anticipate hearing from Michael Elston as soon as he is
available. ’ :

Margaret

DAGO000007189
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Elston, Michael (ODAG)

From: : . Sampson, Kyle

Sent: o bri § 7 .

To: - : McNulty, Paul J; Moschella, William; Elston, Michael (ODAG); Margalis, David; Hertling,
. . Richard; Goodling, Monica .

Subject: Draft response to Reid/Durbin/Schumer/Murray letter re Cummins-Griffin

Importance: ) High

Attachmenits: reid letter re cummins-érifﬁn.doc

All, can you please review and provide comments on my draft response t6 the above-referenced letter?
Richard, can you send the .pdf version of the abave-referenced letter around to this group? i
Thanks! o S .

reid letter re
(:ummins—grifﬁr}... : N

* Kyle Sampson
- Chief of Staff
"U.8. Department of Justice
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20530
(202) 514-2001 wk.
(202) 305-5289 cell
kyle.sampson@usdoj.gov
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‘The Honorable Hatry Reid
Majority Leader ’
United States Senate
Washington, D.C. 20510

" Déar Senator Reid:

This is in response to your letter to the Attorney General dated February 8, 2007.
An identical response has been sent to the other signatories of that letter.

The full quotation of the Attorney General’s testimony at the J udiciary Committee
hearing on January 18, 2007 (not the selective quote cited in your letter), more fairly -
represents his views about the appropriate reasons for asking a U.S. Attorney to resign.

In full, the Attorney General stated: “I think I would never, ever make a change in a
United States attorney for political reasons or if it would in any way jeopardize an
ongoing serious investigation. I just would not do if” (emphasis added).

The Deputy Attorney General, at the hearing held on February 6, 2007, further
stated the Department’s view that asking U.S. Attorney Bud Cummins to resign so that
‘Special Assistant U.S. Attorney Tim Griffin might have the opportunity to serve as U.S.

Attorney is not, in the Department’s view, an inappropriate “political reason.” This is so,
the Deputy Attorney General testified because, inter alia, Griffin was very well-qualified
- and had *‘a strong enough resume” to serve as U.S. Attomey, and Cummins “may have
already been thinking about leaving at some point anyway.” Indeed, at the time Griffin
was appointed interim U.S. Attorney in December 2006 he had far more federal
prosecution experience (in the Criminal Division and in the U.S. Attorney’s office) than
Cummins did at the time he was appointed U.S. Attomey in [insert morith] 2001. In

" addition, Griffin has substantial military prosecution experience that Cummins does not

have. And it was well-known, as early as December 2004, that Cummins intended to
leave the office and seek employment in the private sector. See “The Insider Dec. 30,” -
Ark. Times (Dec. 30, 2004) (“Cummins, 45, said that, with four children to put through
college someday, he’ll likely begin exploring career options. It wouldn’t be ‘shocking,’
he said, for there to be a change in his office before the end of Bush’s second term.”).

In answer to your specific questions:

e The decision to appoint Tim Giiffin to be interim U.S. Attorney in the Eastern
District of Arkansas was made on or about December 15, 2006, after the second
of the Attorney General’s telephone conversations with Senator Pryor.

* The Department of Justice is not aware of anyone lobbying, either inside or

-outside of the Administration, for Griffin’s appointment. In the spring of 2006,
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E : following regular procedures, the Office of the Counsel to the President inquired
—%%ewﬁmwmmgn—
active military duty) might be considered for appointment as'U.S. Attorney upon ’
' his return from Iraq. i
* Asthe Deputy Attorney General testified, Cummins’ continued service as U.S. -
- Attomey was not considered at the same time as the other U.S. Attorneys that the
Depuity Attorney General acknowledged were asked to resi gn for reasons related
to their performance. As the Deputy Attorney General testified, the request that
Cummins resign was “related to the opportunity to provide a fresh start with a
new person in that position.” S ' .
¢ The Department.is not aware of Karl Rove playing any role in the decision to
appoint Griffin. . :
In conclusion, the Department wholeheartedly agrees with the principle that
“[olnce appointed, U.S. Attorneys, perhaps more than any other public servants, must be
. above politics and beyond reproach; they must be seen to enforce the rule of law without
' fear or favor.” That many U.S. Attorneys, appointed by Presidents of both parties, have
“had political experience prior to their appointment does not undermine that principle.

Sincerely,

Richard A. Hertling
Acting Assistant Attorney General
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February 21,2006,

MEMORANDUM FOR THE ACTING DEPUTY ATTORNEY GENERAL
THROUGH: " Uttam Dhillon
. Associate Deputy Attorney General _
Michael Elston .
 Chief of Staff
: 'FR'OM; ‘ JohnS. Irving S 7
: Counsel to the Deputy Attorney Gereral
':SUBJ'ECT: ) - Project Safe Neighborhoods
: : : Review of FY 2005 District Performance
CC: William Mercer _
Principal Associate Deputy Attomey General

" L. ‘Exeécutive Summiary _

) Having reviewed prosecution statistics, available crime rates, the districts’ October 2005
PSN-Reports to the Attorney General, comments by the districts’ main DOJ points of contact,
ATF case referral statistics, arid other information, I make the following recommendations:

* ' The Acting Deputy Attorney General should contact the following} districts to recognize
: their efforts and successful PSN initiatives: 7 5o

. The following districts experienced a decrease in Federal firearms prosecutions of 25%
' or more in FY 2005, and the Acting Deputy Attorney General should contact the U.S.
Attorneys to offer encouragement, confirm that PSN remains a Presidential initiative, and
In come cases, express concern about the districts” PSN initiatives: The Southern District
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of California, .
and' i

The following distticts experienced a decrease in Federal fitearms prosecutions of 25%
* ormore in FY 2005, but any issues can be resolved at the staff level and do ) not require -

the attention of the Acting Deputy Attomey General: -

Ii. ﬁac‘kgr‘ound' _
. - A. General

_ This is the second review of USAQ district performance since PSN’s inception in 2001.
The attached documents demonstrate that the first review in 2004 started with a reviewof
prosecution statistics — comparative numbers of Federal firearms cases filed and defendants
charged. It then considered a number of other factors, such as any available crime statistics,
EOUSA “EARS” reviews, and any awards the districts received for their PSN efforts.

Federal Firearims prosecution statistics also were a starting place for the current review. I
looked first to districts where prosecutions decreased by 25% or more in FY 2005 to identify
districts that might be underperforming. . Using prosecution statistics to review district
performance has been a topic of considerable discussion. ‘From the beginning of PSN, the
“Accountability” tenant of the program Was not meant to measure a district’s performance by
prosecution numbers alone. Performance was to be measured by “outcome,” rather than
“output.” The original Implementation Guide for PSN Partners” notes that measurement of -
district initiatives should be both “an assessment of outcome . - . and trend analysis” of the
district’s particular gun crime challenges. The guide reads as follows:.

Although numerical counts of arrests and convictions are important indicators, the
success of any particular strategy is not reducible to those measures alone.
Accordingly, the goal of the accountability component of the initiative is not to
judge the United States Attorneys® efforts based ‘on a predetermined target
number of arrests and convictions in their districts. Rather, the accountability
component should serve primarily as a means for the United States Attorneys and
their PSN partners to keep abreast of the changes occurring in the districts, to
assist them in evaluating their efforts in light of those challenges; and to provide
“them and their partners with an opportunity to retool their gun plans to address
the emerging issues in the disfricts. -

DAGO00000724



While prosecution statistics alone were never meant to be the sole measure of district -
perforinance, they have evolved into a benchmark. This is in part because prosecution riumbers
have been increasing at such astronomical rates that they have been convenient tools to illustrate
" “the Depattment’s PSN efforts.’ Prosecution statistics also are among the few national numbers
. that are available and current -- unlike crime statistics that typically are at least a year old when
‘teleased and focus on cities, rather than on districts. - ' . ’

) As in the 2004 review, a number of other factors have been considered here in an effort
to'make a more complete and fair evaluation of the districts” PSN initiatives. To start, this

" Teview considers prosecution statistics dating back to FY 1994, not just the increases and

- decreases of the last year. It also considers such information as the districts’ October 2005 PSN

- Teports to the Attorney General, comments by the districts’ points of contact on the main DOJ

', Firearms Enforcement Assistance Team, ATF referral statistics, and crime statistics where they

arg available. ’ o : : o

The districts are divided below into three categories: (1) districts with PSN initiatives

deserving of recognition for exceptional performance; (2) districts that experienced a decrease in

Federal firearms prosecutions of 25% or more inFY 2005 that would likely benefit from contact

from the Acting Deputy Attorney General, and (3) districts that experienced a decrease in )

Federal firearms prosecutions of 25% or more in FY 2005, but where any issues can be resolved

at the staff level and do not require the attention of the Acting Deputy Attorney General.

_ Had this review occurred a year ago, I might have recommended that the Acting Deputy

 Attorney General contact more of the districts that are Listed in the third category. The current
recommendations are made with the understanding that PSN will now be focusing much of its
attention on anti-gang efforts. Because that shift will involve new measurement criteria, it

"makes less sense to scritinize districts for decreased firearms prosecution rates. I also have been
mindful of the fact that the Acting Deputy Attorney General is awaiting confirmation, and that

- the U.S. Attoreys are his colleagues. ac _ S

B.. The 2004 Review

The first review of USAQ district performance was initiated by a memorandum dated
March 10, 2004 (see Tab 1), from then-EOUSA Director Guy Lewis to then-Counsel to the
Attomey General Kyle Sampson identifying sixteen districts that appeared to be prosecuting
Federal firearms offenses below their potential. The list was based in part on FY 2003 statistics

B _ for Federal firearms cases filed and Federal firearms defendants, but EQUSA considered other

factors, including national prosecution statistics, violent crime statistics, and EOUSA’s “EARS”
reports. ‘ :
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‘the time of the June 2004 PSN confernce in K-
met with or made calls to the U.S. Attorneys fr
and calls was some combination 6f Sp

. Chuck Rosenberg, and Kelly Shackelford of EQUSA.

o . The following chart cohtains historica,
that were brought to Deputy Attorney Gener

‘Spetice Prior documented the results of those
memorandum (see Tab 2) to Kyle Sampson dated Jul
“the DAG’s conversations with the U.S, Attorneys an
least two of the listed districts, it Was determined th
PSN despite the statistics, and that additional follo

i
i

ansas C;ty,]jeputy Atto
om those di;
ence Prior, Princip

N

PSN. Coordinator Spence Pryor then ﬁanowed the sixteen districts to twelve:
) the Southern District of California,

e wmane s ATOUNG.

1 and current information about the tw
al Comey’s attention:

conference calls and meetings ina
y 20, 2004. From information received in .
d from additional materials submitted by at
at the following districts were éngaged in
W-up Was unnecessary: the | :

mey General Jim Comey
stricts. Also present for the meetings
al Associate Deputy Attorney General

elve districts

District 1 US. Current Federal Federal Federal Federal Percent | FY 2005
Attorney in | U.S. Firearms | Firearms Firearms . | Firearms | Change Ranking
2004 - Attorney Cases ‘Cases " Cases Cases from FY | (out of
Brought in | Brought in - Brought in | Brought in 2004 - 94)
FY 2002 FY 2003_ FY 2004 FY 2005 FY 2005
154 108 144 131 9% 58
Southern | Carol Lam | Samo as 24 17 18 12 | 33% 86
District of 2004 '
California
' 156 167 159 152 4.4% 51
4
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District lus. " | Current Federal Federal Federal - AFederal. Percent | FY 2005
| Attorneyin | U.S. - Firearms ~ | Firearms Firearms | Firearms | Change | Ranking
2004 Attorney Cases Cases Cases | Cases - from FY | (out of
L : ‘| Brought in | Brought in Brought in | Brought in | 2004 - 94)
|-FY 2002 FY2003 FY 2004 FY 2005 FY2005 | -
B 83 9 8 | 96 | 6% | 2
) s - N . - : ~ N B
176 - 193 . 252 . 223 --11.5% | 62
65 . 56 90 ) 87 -} -33% 49
15 ) 8 ) -2 9 350% | 1
16 4 | 20 12 -40% 90
50 . 41 m 929 -10.8% 60
; N 127 111 120 171 42.5% 8
i 1 : : . ’
‘ ! .
{ 30 28 33 - .31 61% |- 53
P ! ) ‘ g .
l !
Dy e |

* Denotes districts that later were deemed to be engaged in PSN and not in need of follow-up.
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‘I National Trends Based on FY 2005 Prosecution Numbers
FY 2005 p‘rosec_lit_ibn statistics from EOUSA show that the districts continue to prosecute
guh crimes 4t historic highs, but sothe of the figures deserve attention. Ihave included the list of

districts sorted by percentage of increase or dectease between FY 2004 and FY 2005 (see Tab 3)
and the list of district prosecution numbers dating back to 1994 (see Tab 4).

) In FY 2005, the districts filed a total of 10,841 Federal firearms cases — a 2% decrease
fromi the 11,067 cases filed in FY 2004. Forty-four of the districts (46.8%) filed more cases in
FY 2005 than in FY 2004. Forty-eight (51%) of the districts filed fewer cases, Two districts.
prosecuted the same number of cases. There are a few statistical anomalies in the group — such
-as-a 350% increase foxj,-' . Dprosecuting two cases in FY 2004 and nine in FY 2005, and the
fact that the! N increase from zero to one does niot register as a
percentage. , : S : :
" Even with a 2% decrease from FY 2004 to FY 2005, thé 10,841 cases filed in FY 2005
fepresents a 2.6% increase over those filed in FY 2003, a 27% increase over those filed in FY _
2002; a 54% incréase over those filed in FY 2001, and a 72.6% increase over the 6,281 cases
filed in FY 2000. It also should be noted that the number of defendants charged with Federal .
firearms offenses increased; albeit by less than one percent, from 12,962 in FY 2004 t0'13,062 in
FY 2005. Defendants charged with federal firearms offenses are still being sentenced to
significant jail time. In FY 2005, over 93% of offenders received prison terms and over 68%
‘were sentenced to three or more years in prison. By comparison, approximately 94% received
prison terms and 73% were senténced to three or more ‘years in prison in FY 2004, -

- The fo‘llowing chart contains Federal firearms prosecution information for the sixteen
districts that experienced decreases of 24.8% or more in cases filed between FY 2004 and FY

2005: '
District U.S. Attorney Federal ~ | Federal Federal Federal Percent » FY 2005
: .Firearms Firearms Firearms Firearms Change from | Ranking
Cases - Cases Cases Cases FY 2004 - 1 (out of
Brought in | Brought in | Brought in | Brought in | FY 2005 94)
FY 2002 FY 2003 FY 2004 FY 2005
177 T34 246 C185 | -24.8% 78
50 82 - 124 © 93 -25.0% 79
{ = : B 0
35 35 48 36 -25.0% 80
6
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") District

U.S. Attorney Federal Federal Federal -. | Federal Percent Y 2005
: ' - | Firearins | Firearms Firearms | Firearms .| Change from Ranking
Cases Cases Cases Cases FY 2004 - (out of
Brought in | Brought in Brought in | Brought in | FY 2005 94)
] FY2002 | FY2003 | FY2004 | Fv 2005 - o
| 107 125 153 110 28.1% - 82
[ 67 41 41 29 -29.3% 83
Qe : : ,.

. 105 . 167 188 129 314% 8
A _ .

-’ " 194 - 233 283 > 192 -32.2% 85
.+ | * Southeérn Carol Lam 2% 17 18 12 33.3% . 86 -
. |-District of :

California . .
|- ’ . .

! | 73 . 61 72 47 -34.7% 87
-i 42 49 101 64 . -36.6% 88
! T )

! ] 190 246 271 170 -37.3% 89 -

i .

| 16 4 20 12 ~40.0% 9
-+ —

: : ‘ 133 129 143 83 42.0% 91
L - - — -
£l 21 45 50 29 42.0% 92

5 35 24 61 30 -50.8% 193"

- Noted in the list of .12 undérpcrfonning districts in FY 2003, above,
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IV. Some Common Explanations

_ The-districts cite some common reasons for declining firearms prosecution statistics,
. First, the lack of state and local grant funding in F Y 2005 took its toll on partnerships and task
forces. Unfortunately, many of the .districts_’ two and three year grants to local prosecutors’

offices, inedia partners, research partners, and others were expiring at the same time. Perhaps as

Some districts also have complained of decreased ATF referrals of felon-in-possession
cases “adopted” from state agencies, and that the ATF is instead shifting its focus to longer-term
investigations. Ihave included ATF referral statistics for the districts listed below. They show a
mixture of results — in some cases declining and in others increasing while prosecution numbers. -
decreased. S S :

Some districts, such as the - caresstill working their way out from under

220 (2005), and Blakely v. Washington, 542'U.S. 296 (2004), »

Y. Districts With Exceptional PSN Initiatives

‘This was a difficult list to keep short, as so many districts have exceptional PSN
initiatives. The following districts deserve recognition for excellence in FY' 2005, vconsiétent
high performance, and some staggering prosecution numbers, :

A, District ¢

" The - Districtc .. was one of the districts brought to the attention of
Deputy Attorney General Jim Comey in 2004. Afier the contact between the Deputy Attorney
General and ™"~ . i T 77 7. theUS. Attomey sent a memorandum to
EOUSA defending the district’s PSN initiative (see Tab 5). In the later memorandum by Spence
Prior, it was noted that “This is not a distric that has any problems with-its PSN program,” and it
was decided that additional follow-up was unnecessary. -

The: District; . -deserves some recognition for its PSN efforts, and for
-an impressive 42.5% increase in Federal firearms cases filed in FY 2005 over FY 2004 — making
it the district with the eighth highest percentage increase. The district went from 111 cases in
FY 2003 to 120 in FY 2004 fo 171 inFY 2005. =~
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L uis still the U.S. Attorney in thy ~ District .. The
district’s website contains apage dedicated to PSN and an outline of how the district is
. implementing its PSN initiative. The district’s October 2005 PSN Report to the Attorney
General provides extensive details about the district’s partnerships, initiatives, and best practices.
, The report notes particular success with its “Project Disarm” initiative in' B and
. -. . whereit concentrates its enforcement efforts on the ultimate goal of dismantling -
gangs. The report also provides details. about the district’s community outreach and Project
_Sentry efforts. :

" Itis worth noting that thei _+District has long received recognition for
its PSN initiatives, particularly for its use of “call-in” or “notification” meetings for released’
offenders under court supervision. Thel. District’s program remains exceptional, despite
aslight decrease in prosecution numbers, but the ’ " is'due for some recognition.

B. 7 District “a

US. Attorney, . has long been a PSN champion. In June 2004, the*
- . District¢ - ‘Teceived an award for the Most Improved Gun Violence Program at the
. national PSN conferenice in Kansas City, Missouri. U.S. Attorney: ~also assisted the
“Department in its PSN appropriations struggles last surnmer, providing information for letters to
. ST and to .

- The - . istrict. = " task force has not rested on its
accomplishments. The district filed 114 Federal fitearms cases in FY 2005 — a 37.3% increase
over the 83 cases filed in FY 2004 and the 14® highest percentage increase of the year. The
district filed only 20 such cases in FY 2001. In FY 2002, that number rose to 31, and then to 92
inFY 2003. After a slight dip to 83 in FY 2004, the district hit its higliest number yet in FY
2005. The 114 Federal firearms cases filed in FY 2005 are a 660% increase over the 15 filed in

" FY 2000. ;

;C. " District

o has been the U.S. Attorney for the istrict .- - Since the
Fall of 2001. The district has long been recognized for its PSN initiative, and it was included in
a handful of districts suggested to the Attorney General’s Office last Fall for a visit, ‘Witha
- staggering 341 Federal. firearms cases filed in FY 2005, the district takes the prize for the highest
number of cases filed in one year since at least FY 1994. The 341 cases filed in FY 2005 also
© represent a 5.6% increase over the 323 cases filed in FY 2004. :
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The PSN task force in the.” District v 16Views all-arrests involving a
firearm to determine whether offenders are eligible for Federal prosecution. Among the
- district’s targeted offenders through FY 2004, 560 defendants.had prior convictions for 2,030
felonies, including 14 murders, 131 robberies, and 275 burglaries. The district-also has
implemented a successful media strategy and a public outreach campaign that includes “call-in” -
meetings for released offenders under court supervision. )

"D. ) District ___ __
U.S. Attorney’ fee 0 inthe i  District: ) is another -
PSN chamipion. In December 2005, U'S. Attorney, " organized a stite-wide PSN
conference in Deceinber 2005 attended by the Attorney General. She also was of great
_ assistance duting the FY 2006 appropriations season. U.S. Attorney. _ _ volunteered to
testify at a PSN hearing before the Ji udiciary Committee of the U.S. House of Representatives .
last summer, and she enlisted additional witnesses from her task force — the District Attorney
from : » and a reverend named |’ ~ 7, who has assisted the district’s -
outreach efforts. The committee hearing was repeatedly rescheduled, and ultimately cancelled,
but US. Attorney: was ready and willing throughout.

" The? T s * ’s PSN efforts led to a reduction in violent crime

. involving firearms in the district’s five largest cities from 2003 to 2004. Homicides in _ o
‘Greensboro fell from 41 in 2003 to 16 in 2004, The district screens cases to determine whether
offenders are eligible for Federal prosecution, and the substantial increases in Federal e
prosecutions have been mirrored in state courts. The district also has an active community
outreach campaign that includes “call-in” meetings for released offenders under court ’
-supervision and "Project Fresh Start," a Job-skills training program that provides employment

. opportunities for ex-offenders. . ’ :

. The number of Federal firearms cases in the -Distriet . a decreased
from 187 in FY 2004 to 161 in FY 2005, but (a) the 161 number is a substantial increase over the
- years dating back to FY 1994, and (b) the number of Federal firearms defendants in the district

increased more than 17% from 1.48 in‘FY 2004 to 174 in FY 2005.

The other two ’ -districts also deserve recognition for their efforts. In the
~—.. District, U.S. Attomey 7saw an 8.1% decrease in Federal Firearms cases
filed from FY 2004 to FY 2005, but the district still prosecuted 250 cases in FY 2005 — the sixth
highest number out of all of the districts and more than double the number of cases it filed in FY
2001. The district’s PSN Coordinator, "7, received an EOUSA Director’s Award for
her work on PSN, a fact recognized by the Attorney General in his speech at the state-wide PSN
conference in November 2005, :
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In the ... . ) . Us. Attorney . . sawa
12.7% increase in the number of Federal firearms cases filed — from 220 in FY 2004 to 248 in
FY 2005 The district had the seventh-highest number of cases filed among all of the districts,

-and the FY' 2005 number is more than triple the 82 cases filed in FY 2001, The

oft _vaccomplished this despite a fglling—out between the ATF and _the'
! T _ Police Department. - '
E. District »
InFY 2005, the: maintained its FY 2004 prosecution rate of

179 Federal firearms cases — its mghest since at least FY-1994 — and increased the number of -
“defendants charged in FY 2004 by 57:1%. i )

" US. Attorney? . _ has held that-position since March 2002, The?

. ~ has implemented its PSN initiative in an ethnically and geographically diverse district
‘that includes 7 - - and: . . The district’s sources of gun

violence range from domestic violence to armed felons to gang-related crime and drug o

_ trafficking in methamphetamine, prescription drugs, and crack cocaine. The district has assigned

AUSAs to multiple sites, and it has implemented an aggressive “Project Sentry” initiative to

~ address juvenile gun crime. According to UCR data comparing the first half of 2004 to the first

half 0f 2005, the numbers of violent crime and murder stayed essentially the same in -

In . the number of violent crimes increased 4.3%, but homicides decreased 16% -
from 50 to 42. In - » violent crime fell 11% and homicides decreased 26% from 11 from

5.
F. Other Noteworthy Districts

. Margaret Chiara has been the U.S. Attorney for the Western District of Michigan
since the Fall of 2001. The number of Federal firearms cases filed by that district increased from
.72 in FY 2004 to 109 in FY 2005 —a 51.4% increase. Nationally, the district had the seventh
highest percentage increase in cases filed in FY 2005. With the exception of a dip in prosecution
- numbers in FY 2004, the district has steadily increased its firearms prosecutions, which have
- nearly doubled since 58 cases were filed in FY-2001. ’ :

. The® . T

respectively filed the second, tenth, eleventh, and twelfth highest number of Federal firearms -

- cases in FY 2005. Under U.S. Attorney . ) = _Districtc  filed
285 cases in FY 2004 - its highest ever and more than triple the 89 cases filed in FY 2000.
Under U.S. Attorney’ ° """ 7 until his resignation in June 2005 and then U.S, Attorney
- _the District s filed 223 Federal firearms cases in FY 2005,
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- aslight dip sinice the district filed 252 cases in FY 2004, but still a substantial volumie of cases.!
“Under'U.S. Attorney; - * .~ _ . ¢ filed 214 Federal firearms
cases in FY 2005 — its highest since at least FY 1994, Under US. Attorneyi .. _

T« . .. filed211 Federal firedrms cases in FY 2005 — a 40.7% increase over
. the 150 cases filed by the district in FY 2004 and the ninth highest percentage increase for FY
~ 2005, In all, the four Texas districts prosecuted 933 cases in FY 2005 and more than 3,800 .
firearms cases since 2001, . ‘ s : :

V1. Districts Requiring the Att_éiiﬁon of the Acting Deputy Attorney General

‘The following districts experienced a decrease in Federal fircarms prosecutions 6f25%
or more in FY 2005. Irecommend that the Acting Deputy Attorney General contact the U.S.
Attorneys to confirm that PSN rémains a Presidential initiative. With the exception of the
Southerr District of California, the following districts have relatively new U.S: Attorneys.

A. Southern District of California

o|Distwit . JUSAtomey | ooz | 2003 | 2004 | 2005 | %Change | Rauk
SDCA CarolLam - | * 24 7| s 2 | 33w | s
ATF Referrals o 9% 75 | s | 2 | eaw I

- Of the listed districts, the Southern District of California stands out as the only one with
the same U.S. Attorney since 2002, a substantial urban population, almost no increase in cases -
filed from FY.2003 to FY 2004, a 33% decline in cases filed in FY 2005 (to a total of 12), and
* increased ATF referrals -- despite a call from DAG Jim Comey in June 2004. The Southern - .
District of California’s cases filed are at their lowest since 1994 — and that s the earliest year for :
" which EQUSA provided records — despite, 152 case referrals from the ATF in FY 2005,

. The Southern District of California was among those identified as underperforming in the
March 2004 memo from EQUSA t6 Kyle Sampson. The memorandum notes that the PSN Task -
Force was established in October 2002, after Carol Lam became the U S, Attorney. The

. memorandum notes, however, that “[t]he most glaring statistic for this district is the overall

! The District was brought to the attention of Deputy Attorney
General Jim Comey as one that might be underperforming: In the July memorandum from
Spence Pryor to Kyle Sampson, it is noted that “USA is clearly engaged. At this point no
follow-up is needed. Will review progress at conclusion of 2004.” In any event,
- Rosenberg is now the U.S. Attorney. :
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" dearth of firearms prosecutions.” In.a conference call with DAG Jim Comey prior to July 20,
°2004, U.S. Attorney Carol Lam acknowledged that there were problems with the district’s PSN
initiative, but explained that part of the problem was that the district had 4n enormous
immigration problem and lacked adequate prosecutorial resources to focus on PSN. U.S.
. Attorniey Lam expected the district’s PSN effort to improve through a new case-screening
system with local prosecutors and a new point of contact in the U.S. Attomney’s Office who was

- to oversee the intake of all firearnis cases.

- In our efforts to educate Congress about the success of PSN and need for state and local
gtant funding in FY 2006, Assistant Attorney General for the Office of Legislative Affairs Will

. “Moschella sent a letter to Senator Diane Feinstein describing the efforts of the three U.S.
Attorney’s Offices in California. The following information was provided by U.S. Attorney

Carol Lam: - g o . o ‘

.PSN Enforcement, Southern District of California - The Southern District of

* California has made a concerted effort to support the goals of the PSN program .
by: : o ‘ . .
§ 'The Southern District has increased firearms prosecutions of gang:

" members and other violent offenders. For example, in August 2003, the San
Diego District Attomey's Office was awarded a PSN grant to fund the San Diego
Violent Crimes Task Force - Gang Group in a multi-agency operation to combat
gun violence in southeast San Diego. Typical of the results of this ongoing, joint
Federal and state effort, six Federal and state search warrants were execited in

- August 2005 to address the viclent nature of a local street gang in the targeted
area. Drugs were seized and 12 weapons, (including a pistol with silencer and 2
' assault rifles) were taken off the streets. :

PSN Regional Identification of Firearms Project - .PSN funding has
provided gun-tracing analysis of firearms involved in crimes such as homicides,
attempted murdet, drug charges and felony in possession charges. Images of
bullets and cartridge casings entered into the database system has increased
_progress in identifying guns used in crimes and linking thiem to criminal suspects.
The program is supported by local, state, and Federal.law enforcement, ‘and
without PSN funding, the equipment and highly-trained technician may be lost,

Youth Gun Violence Reduction - PSN funding has increased awareness
through education in the Youth Gun Violence Reduction area by implemeriting
the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives' GR.E.A.T. program in
San Diego schools in high risk areas. - Gun safety brochures, in English and
Spanish, have been circulated at community events to youth and families in high -
risk areas.
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. The district has made somé efforts, and U.S. Attorney Lam’s assistance in the appropriations

process is appreciated, but there ought to be more to say about the district’s PSN enforcement

efforts in its fourth year than citing to a 2003 grant and six search warrants.

In itts October 2005 report to the Attorney General on its PSN efforts, the district

: aéknowl'edges aneed for technical assistance in the areas of prosecution protocols, media
. outreach, and law enforcement strategies. The district states that it has requested and is planning

to receive that assistance from MSU. The district reports that it does engage in case screening,
and it focuses those efforts on domestic violence and alien-in possession cases. The district

- identifies gangs, drugs, felons-in-possession and aliens-in-possession as the sources of its gun

violence problem. It notes that the effectiveness of its strategies has not been assessed and that

one if its obstacles has been “turnover of key personnel.” *

Crime statistics do show a decrease in the number of violent crimes and homicides in San
Diego. According to the FBI's UCR data, violent crime in the first half of 2005 declined there
8.8 % from the same period in 2004, and the homicides declined 23% from 30 to 23. I'was
unable to find crime statistics for E1 Cajon, the primary focus area of the district’s task force.

B 1 District: ..
District | US Attormey | - 2002 |° 2003 | 2004 | 2005 | % Change - | Rark
y 177. 234 246 185 | -248% 78
: 'LATF Referrals o 1 200 | 2s2 - 250 I 226 | 9% j

Michael Garcia was only confirmed as'the U.S. Aﬁoméy fort N
tin _ 2005. The fact that U.S. Attorney Garcia had little, if anything, to do with the

. decreased prosecution numbers is an opportunity. Irecommend that the Acting Deputy Attorney

Genera1 contact the. U.S. Attorney to emphasize the importance of PSN, note some concern
about the district’s prosecution numbers, and offer encouragement.

) was confirmed as the U.S. Attorney forthe . District
in-. 2005. He was an Assistant United States in that office from :

Federal firearms cases in-the: S a7 snpped 24.8% from 246 in
FY 2004 to 185 in FY 2005, although the FY 2005 number is still substantially above those filed
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in other recent years. The nurnber of firearms defendants are proportionate — slipping from 333
in 2004 to 292 in:2005, but still above the humbers for other recent years. It is noteworthy that
ATF referrals also declined from 250 in 2004 to 226 in 2005, and that the district likely is not
lacking in armed felons. Crime statistics are not available specifically for the district, but UCR -
- data for/ - shows decreasing violent crime and murder rates. Violent crime
declined 3% in the first half of 2005 cornpared to the same period in 2004, and murders declined
14% -- down from 278 in 2004 to 238 in 2005. - - :

Unfortunately, we did not receive a PSN report to the Attorney General from the

; I in October 2005, so I do not hav, dditional details about the
district’s strengths and weaknesses. Information about the district’s PSN initiative also is not

- - available on the internet, as the district’s website does hot have a page devoted to its PSN efforts.

. On the other hand, please be aware that the district’s PSN Coordinator, _
I , has been responsive to my calls and was very helpful in providing information
during the FY2006 appropriations season. With her feedbatk, we were able to send the
following information toRep.- .~ - duting the FY 2006 appropriations season:

< — “ . Int.. __.
. the PSN task force includes the U.S. Attorney’s Office,

District Attorey’s Office, =~ District Attorney’s Office,
*Crimestoppers, ' . Division of Criminal Justice Services, YMCA,
“3oys and Girls’ Club, ? . Overall Economic Development
" Organization, Urban Institute, National Crime Prevention Council, and the U.S.
Department of Housing and Urban Development. .As an example of the
cooperation within the task force, the U.S. Attorney’s Office, ; 7
S— .  review firearms-related
airests and determine whether State or ‘Federal prosecution will be more
effective in individual cases. The ¥ o . t
. have received PSN grants to support gun prosecutor
positions. : S ) )

The task force focuses its efforts primarily on gangs and drug trafficking. The
task force also targets violent gun-related offenses, illegal possession of
firearms by convictéd felons and other prohibited: persons, gun trafficking, and
any firearm offenses in given high-crime “hot spots” in the district. Federal-
firearms prosecutions in the district increased by over 100% from FY 2000 to
FY 2004.
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The U.S, Attomey’s Office in the District " . nas used
Federal firearms laws in its fight against’ .  street gangs. For example, the -
District prosecuted two- members of rival crack cocaine distribution -
organizations under Federal firearms laws. = Both were later charged with
additional murder and narcotics related offenses, and the investigation led to the
convictions of 11 memnibers of the conspiracy and the effective dismantling of
the criminal organization. -Another felon-in-possession case led to the October
2004 conviction of : = " . - . ‘ “inan
interstate -crack cocaine distribution ring that stretched from New York to
Virginia; and then to South Carolina, - and his crew were responsible
for, among other things, the stripping, beating, shooting, and murder of an
associate who lost a quantity of crack cocaine he had been instructed to sell.

- The victim’s body was stuffed into a trashcan and dumped along an interstate .

" highway. ._.___._ faces life in prison. -and: | : face sentences

- of 25 years to life. : ' : :

PSN_OQutreach - Recognizing that arrests and prosecutions alone will not

effectively combat -gun violence, the : I has
 implemented a community outréach campaign to engage the community and
educate citizens about the dangers of gun violence and the penalties for Federal
firearms offenses. ' The district places public service messages on television,
posters, flyers,. bus shelters, and billboards ‘to spread the message that “Gun
Crime = Hard Time”. Project Safe Neighborhoods grants also helped to support -
youth anti-gang initiatives implemented by the’ ._: YMCA and Pathways for
" Youth at summer youth camps.

It is important to note that _._... - has benefitted from PSN grant
-funding in the past for the hiring of State-and local gun ‘crime prosecutors,
-prevention, media outreach, research, and strategic planning. You may be
aware that PSN State and local grant funding provided to: -~ in FY 2001
totaled $5,725,948; in FY 2002 totaled $4,458,008; in FY. 2003 totaled
$3,396,006 and in FY 2004 totaled $2,766,815. Without sustained funding,
these programs will not be able to continue.
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C - District

Distict | US. Atomey | 2002 2003 2004- | 2005 - | %Change ‘| Ramk
: ‘ B |l e | m K4 3347% . | 81
‘ IﬂFIReferrals o ! TR s | ew —I
v ) "y District - ..j *ntenm U.S. Attorfiey . * ' has held his
posmon since U.S. Attomey} . 7o+ leftin August 2005. The Actmg Deputy Attorney

General should take the opportunity to offer encouragement and make clear the Departmerit’s
emphasis on PSN. For further background information about the district, the Acting Deputy
Attorney General should consult with Assocmte Deputy Attorney General David Margolis about
the exit of former U.S. Attorney

Tunderstand that the PSN Coordinator in the office, ! .- -~ is engaged and.
- effective, but the district’s firearms prosecutions have fallen significantly — to their lowest
. .hurnber since they prosecuted 43 cases in FY*1999. Theé nuniber of firearmis defendants are
propomonate 47 defendants in FY 2005 down from 75 in FY 2004 — and the lowest number
since 33.in FY 1998. Crime rates for the district are d1fﬁcu1t to determme, as the FBI’s UCR
.does not contam dataforc - or’ ;

‘When the d15tnct s PSN Coordmator was asked by a main DOJ PSN point of contact
about the declining prosecution numbers, the PSN Coordmator provided some fairly
understandable explanations. To start, he said that the ATF shifted their focus to longer-tern
investigations and targeting chronic dangerous offenders. As a result, local police department
officers had to obtain the various records necessary to prosecute the case, and it took those
officers longer than it had taken ATF agents. ATF’s data, however, show an increase in firearms -
cases referred to the district — up to 128 in FY 2005 from 120 in FY. 2004. The PSN Coordinator
teported an increase in Armed Career Criminal convictions and lengthy pnson sentences as a
result of the concentration on chronic offenders. He also reported success in the form of a 50%
decrease in murders from FY 2004 to FY 2005 in a notorious targeted area of ¢ - The

_ district also transferred the primary gun prosecuting AUSA to a narcotics section, and divided
that AUSA’s caseload among other AUSAs in the general crime section who are unable to :
concentrate exclusively on guns. The PSN Coordinator also has spent much of his time training
pohce officers and coordinating community and media 6utreach campaigns. These resource
issues are understandable, but the district should be able to mamta.m a higher number of firearms

) prosecutlons

17

DAG000000739



D. . {District

| Distict .~ ' | US. Attorney 2002° | 2003 | 2004 . . 2005 | %Change | Ranmk
‘ 194 | 233 |2 | 1e2 322% .| s
| — A S . ) -
| ATF Referrals o | 124 - | 203 | 309 | 204 " 48%

The .. __..__District ¢ has been among the most involved and active districts

since PSN’s inception. The recent decrease in firearms prosecution numbers does not cause
concern because of the district’s prior performance arid because even the decreased FY 2005
-number of cases filed represents an enormous increase over pre-PSN numbers. I'recommend’
.contact by the Acting Deputy Attorney Genéral because there is an opportunity here: The interim
U.S. Attorney has only held that post since October 2005, and he had little, if anything; to do
with FY 2005 prosecution numbers. The Acting Deputy Attorney General would be able to
recognize the district’s past performance and emphasize the importance of PSN as a Presidential
initiative without the contact being construed as a reprimand, o )

) The* o .. ¥'sdecreased prosecution numibers are puzzling -
* because the district has had a model PSN initiative. It has been cited as one of the “PSN Best
Practice” districts for comprehensive case screening — a strategy where all local firearms-related
arrests are reviewed to determine the most effective venue for prosecution. The district also is
- one of the few that has not used grant funds for personnel costs, which has insulated its program
from the winds of Federal appropriations. .

Interim U.S. Attorney has held that position since U.S. Attorney
) ‘tesigned in October 2005. The number of Federal firearms cases filed fell more
than 32% from 283 in FY 2004 to 192 in FY 2005. The FY 2005 number also is lower than the
.233 cases filed in FY 2003 and the 194 cases filed in FY 2002. Still, the FY 2005 number is
more than triple the average of 55 cases filed per year from 1994 through 2001. Federal firearms
defendant statistics are proportionate — 213 in FY 2005 down from 322 in 2004 and 263 in FY
2003. - . ‘

UCR data is not available for the district’s largest cities of . and

The district does have some valid reasons. for the decreased prosecution nu;tnbers inFY
2005. Inresponse to an inquiry about decreasing prosecution numbers by the district’s main
DOJ point of contact, the following explanations were offered: The PSN Coordinator had a baby -

in the middle of the year, the U.S. Attorney resigned in October, the district lost an AUSA in
their gun unit and was not allowed to hire a replacement, a Special AUSA left the office and the
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replacement SAUSA was then d_eployed to Iraq, and the district (which does not have a separate
appellate section) has been swamped with Blakely appeals. -

Ny VIL. .Diétricfs in Need of‘,Staff-Level Conta‘ct'aﬁd Follow-up

_ -The following districts experienced a decrease in Federal firearms prosecutions of 25%
- or more in FY 2005, but for the reasons stated below, I believe that any issues can be resolved at
.. the staff level and do not require the attention of the Acting Deputy Attorney General. I
recommend further contact with the district to obtain additional information about the districts®
PSN efforts, crime statistics, and to offer assistance to ensure that the programs are running
- efficiently. Isuggest that some of the districts be asked to outline the steps that they will take to
nmedsure their own performance in the .coming year, and that their progress be monitored.

A. District.

Distict | US. Attorsiey 2002 12003 2004 | 2005 % Change . | Rank
' N ] 3 35 48 36 | 2s0% | g0
| ATF Referrais ' | 2 | = [ o | 4% |
The District: _ -is one districts where the decrease in firearms cases filed
might be the result of a particilarly high humber in FY 2004. U.S. Attorney E -has

held his position since March 2003. After a spike of 48 firearms cases filed in FY 2004, the

District slipped in FY 2005 to 36 casés — essentially is the recent norm in the district. The

district’s statistics on firearms defendants are interesting. The number of defendants increased

from 80 in FY 2004 to 84 in FY 2005. FY 2002 was similar with 71 defendants, but there were
' significant spikes in FY 2001 (126 defendants) and in FY 2003 (142 defendants).

In its October 2005 report to the Attorney Gereral, the district provided-some statistics

. that do not quite match those from EOUSA, and further inquiry is needed to determine which
figures are more accurate. The district stated that it had filed 32 PSN-related casés in Federal
court in the preceding six months, representing a 60% increase from the preceding reporting .
petiod.” The district also stated that those cases involved 82 defendants, representing an increase
of 140% from the last reporting period. The district reported that from 2002 to 2005, violent
crime decreased by 29.4%, and that the ° N " has not been
cooperative. : )
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- B. District

|pistit | US Atomey | 2002 2003 | 2004 | 2005 % Change | Rank
' 50 g2 | 124 | o3 250% | 7
' LATF Referrals e | 1m0 200 | 1es [ s

, ‘ _ .hasbeenthe US. Attomney forthe °  District . - e
since October 2001. The district has been engaged in PSN, and its decrease in Federal firearms
prosecutions are in large part due to the substantial increase in cases filed in FY 2004, However,
‘due to some increasing crime statistics and in order to better assess the district’s program in the
wakeof- . _ . * Irecommend further contact with the district on a staff level to
obtain additional information and offer assistance.

Cases filed in the district slipped 25% from 124 in FY 2004 to 93.in FY 2005. Still, the
FY 2005 number is almost double that of FY 2002, and it far exceeds the 39 cases filed in FY
2001 or the 26 in FY 2000. Federal firearms defendant statistics are proportionate. There were
108 defendants in FY 2005 -- below the 138 in FY 2004 but higher than the 96 in FY 2003, 65 in
FY 2002, and 45 in FY 2001. It also is noteworthy that the ATF referrals.dropped by nearly the
same petcentage as the cases filed in FY 2005.

Crime statistics in the district are disconcerting, and the UCR data comparing the first six
months of 2005 to the same period in 2004 are not affected by: i }
the violent crime rate rose 4.2% and the murder rate increased 40% from 15 in 2004 to 21 in
2005. In. . the violent crime rate decreased 7.9%. The murder rate there increased

25%, but that iranslates to four murders in 2004 and five in 2005.

In its October 2005 PSN Report to the Attorney General, the district noted a number of
successes. They are in the process of forming a full-time task force in. and they have
been coordinating their PSN efforts with other law enforcement initiatives, such as Weed & v
Seed, OCDETF, and the FBI’s Safe Streets initiative. The district also is engaged with its
research partner, which is providing helpful information to the district. The district reports
decreasing crime rates in the areas in which its PSN efforts have been focused.

20

DAG000000742



C. District

Distict | US Aftomey | 2002 2003 | 2004 ) 2005 | %Chinge _ Ragk -~
‘ 103 147 186. 135 | 4% | s
| ATF Refertals N B | s [ 1er e ]
The: is another district in need of some follow-up, but it is engaged and

. its decreased prosecution statistics do not yet rise to the level that necessitate contact from the
Acting Deputy Attorney Gereral, . . S o

:  _  hasheld his position since March 2002;'so hé has some
'experience with PSN. In FY 2005, the district filed 135 cases — down 27.4% from FY 2004,
despite a 23% increase in ATF referrals. The nimber of cases filed in the district in FY 2005 i
- also below the 147 cases filed in FY 2003, but it is above the 103 cases in FY 2002 and the 93 in
FY 2001. The numbers of Federal firearms defendants in the district are proportionate — 157 in
FY 2005, which is down from 233 in FY 2004 and 171 in FY 2003, but sbove the 123 inFYy
2002 and the 105 in FY. 2001, ' :

UCR statistics comparing the first six months 0f 2005 to the same period of 2004 show
mixed results and some notable homicide fate increases. In* .-, the violent crime rate rose
only 1% and murders decreased 66%, although that translates to one murder in 2005 compared
to three in 2004. In: -, violent crime increased less than one percent, but murdets rose -
over 43% -- from 39 in 2004 to 56 in 2005. A similar trend was seen in." . where there
Wwas no meaningful change in the violent crime rate, but murders rose 275% from four to 15.

. The district’s October 2005 PSN report to the Attorey General demonstrates that the
. district is engaged in PSN. It has formed partnerships in its three largest cities. The district
screens local arrests for eligible Federal defendants, and it has a cross-designated local
“prosecutor who can prosecute firearms cases federally. The district was in the process of
‘platining a new media campaign at the time of the report, and it has trained over 400 law
- enforcement officers on Federal firearms laws and PSN for cach of the last three years. The
district’s major concern was future PSN funding - it warned that a lack of funding would bring
“a slow but steady reduction in our cases and an increase in violent crime.” . '
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" DOJ PSN point of contact for the district reports that the PSN Coordinator, AUSA: -

has been helpful, cooperafive, and supportive of PSN.

D.." District.
| Dismit _|US.Attomey | 20020 | 2003 2004 | 2005 - %Change | Ramk |.
T ? X
: de- 107. 125 |- 153 10 | 281% 82
[ ATP Referrats [ 140 211 26 | 266 | |

The'.... :a Distz_ict ¢ gis clearly empaged in P_SN. I'would like to know more

about the reasons for the district’s lower prosecution numbers and about jts plans to address the -

- increasing murder ratesin- . ‘rand © 777 butthis information can be obtained through

staff-level contact.

- EE R became the Director, - in June 2005. Federal
firearins cases slipped significantly from 125 in FY 2003 and 153 in FY 2004 to 110 in FY 2005.
The-number of casés filed in FY 2005 was closer to the 107 filed in FY 2002 and the 101 filed in

~ FY 2001, but all of those years’ totals far exceed the average of 45 cases per year from FY 1994
to.FY 2000. The numbers of Federal firearms defendants are proportionate — down from 146 in
FY 2003 and 171 in FY 2004 to 139 in FY 200s5. : ) )

- UCR statistics comparing the first half of 2005 to the same period in 2004 show modest

. decreases in the number of violent ctimes in ; ¢ ——and. - - However, murders

increased in both cities ~ by one murder in - . but a 31% increase in - - from 16 in
2004 to 21 in 2005. )

~The’ Y .. - " . reports that it has been working in “Exile”

partnerships since 1999, and the district’s cooperation with researcher ST
G E ' isone of our best examples of data-driven law enforcement
efforts. The district submitted an extremely detailed PSN report noting its use of such PSN “best
préctices” as screening local arrests for potential Federal cases, conducting “homicide reviews”
to examine patterns in those cases, using offender “call-in” meetings to dissuade those under

. court supervision from engaging in gun violence, and building street-level cases into more
sophisticated investigations.
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E Districi

- | District ~ 1 US. Attomey . 2002 | 2003 2004 - 2005 __ % Change | Rank
o e | a | a4 " 29 29.3% 8
| ATF Reforrats 1 ] e | & R
The District s report to the Attorney General in:djc‘;ates a well-developed

" PSN program, but I am concerned about the nearly 30% decrease in prosecution numbers, I
recommend further staff-level contact with the district to obtain more information about its PS

- initiative, crime trends, and the reasons for lower prosecution niimbers, : ’

5 ' “has been the U.S. Attorney for the District ~~ * since December
 2001. Federal firearms cases in 'the district fell nearly 30% from 41 in FY 2004 and FY 2003 to
29 in FY 2005. The FY 2005 number is, however, a substantial increase from the average of 13
cases each year from FY 1994 through FY 2001. The district dlso is a relatively small one, and
‘the nearly 30% decrease translates to a difference of 12 cases. Onthe otherhand, . , ,
" . holds a sizeable chunk of the I-95 corridor, nicknamed “The Iron Pipeline.” Itis noteworthy that
the number of ATF firearms case referrals decreased at nearly the same rate — from 57 ‘cases in
FY 2004 to 39'in FY 2005, a 32% dectease. Trends in Federal firearms defendant nuribers are
~-consistent with the number of cases filed since FY 2001. . B

Recent UCR data is not available for the two largest cities in the district— - _ and
- According to one press account, . experienced a slight decrease in
homicides in 2005, and “after a particularly bloody” 2004 with “near record shootings,” major-
crimes decreased by 5% in the city. The article notes that the murder rate increased in 2005 in
nearby "~ .anc. _ & and decreased in and{ There apparently is
some disagreement between’ =~ =~ ' " and other city leaders about how to
. address violent crime. According the to the article, the ‘mayor has said that social services and
outreach initiatives “will have more of an impact over the long term than any policing strategy.”
After 2004, the mayor created the ¢ "HOPE Commission” to examine and coordinate -
social services, education, faith-based initiatives and cultural programs.

The district’s report to the Attorney General generally demonstrates éngagement in PSN.
It notes task forces members in * . ...and elsewhere, and the district reports that it
is very satisfied with its research partner, Data Statistical Analysis Center. I am concerned about '
the district’s method of measuring its performance, The report states in relevant part that “[tjhe
PSN Program will measure effectiveness by the percentage increase in charged Federal firearms
offenders compared to pre-PSN levels. .. ” As an indication of success, the report boasts,
“Since the beginning of our PSN efforts in September
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. 2001, until the end of July 2005, we have prosecuted over three times as many Federal firearms
. ‘defendants as in the immediately preceding corresponding period” — presumably referring to the
.years 1998-2001. Clearly, the district has decided that prosecuting felons in possession of
firearms is an effective way to address gun violence, and it ought to compare its current -
performance to that of more recent years. o . '

F S District: -
bbist;ic.t >'L.I.S.1.§ttqn-neby:__ [ 2002 “ ) -5003 ‘ 2004 2_005_.. % Change Raak
e - w0s | 167 | 1s8 129 | 314% s
- bﬁmfm;is _ I 179 227; © 259 348 _ 34.3%;’ 7
| ’.I'hel"'b District . : +’s presence in t'his memorandum 1s puzzling. The

district's PSN program has been a'tnodél ofe, and its PSN Coordinator is involved in the .
" district’s efforts. Given some of the PSN Coordinator’s stated reasons for the decline in Federal
firearms prosecutions, crime statistics that have shown some improvement, and the district’s
“selection as a new ATF VCIT site, I recommend against raising the issue to the level of the -
Acting Deputy Attorhey General. I instead recommend further staff-level contact with the -
_district to obtain additional information and to monitor the district’s progress for the remainder
" of the fiscal year. '

i became the U.S. Attorney for the . ; : " in
‘December 2004. The district recently experienced a 31.4% decline in Federal firearms cases
filed - falling from 188 in FY 2004 to 129 in FY 2005. At the same time, ATF referrals grew,
with a'34.3% gain from 259 cases in FY 2004 to 348 cases in FY 2005. The cases filed in the
district in FY 2005 also were lower than the 167 cases filed in FY 2003, so the recent decline
apparently is not due to a spike in the number of cases filed in FY 2004. The number of Federal
firearms defendants fell praoportionately — there were 197 in FY 2005 down from 260 in FY 2004
and 268 in FY 2003, - o .

The district’s crime statistics show a generally improving trend. UCR data comparing
the first half of 2005 to the same period in 2004 indicates that violent crime decreased 14% and
that homicides fell 31%. In October 2005, the district reported that the effectiveness of its PSN
program is demonstrated by significant decreases in crime rates: From 2003-2005, homicides.
‘were down 38%, robberies decreased by 25%, shootings decreased by 40%, shooting victims by
37% and gun crimes by 41%. The district noted that the number of firearms seized during the
same period increased 38%. In its request for ATF VCIT resources, the district pointed out
Jower vidlent crime and homicide numbers, but noted that » murder rate in 2004 was
worse than that of all of the then-current VCIT cities aside from D.C., Baltimore, and Richmond.

.24

DAGO00000746



. The District’s PSN report demonstrates that it is engaged in PSN, and that is consistent
with its reputation, The district’s task force meets ‘weekly anid reviews local firearm arrests for
- possible Federal cases.. The district enjoys a close relationship with the® - _ District
Attorney’s office, which has actively pursued firearms offenses in state court. That office filed
877 state firearms cases in 2004 and a similar number in 2005, Federal prosecutors prioritize
cases involving violent armed career criminals, even where the immediate case does not involve
a firearm - which might make the statistics for F ederal firearms cases filed an-unreliable
measurement of the district’s PSN efforts. Examples of the district’s innovative initiatives -
include flagging “PSN Highly Dangerous” offenders in the records of the - :a-Criminal
- Information Center, and the district’s collaboration with the . # Housing Authority to
 abate nuisance properties and warn public housing residents about the consequences of
committing firearms offerises. : :

. The district’s PSN Coordinator| provided the following detailed email -
response to an inquiry about decreasing prosectition numbers by the district’s point of contact at
main DOJ: L : ‘ : : ’

I‘i{e Firearms & Local Impact Offenses sccti.on,'which pros:ecutes'almost all the
PSN cases:in this district, charges defendants causing or contributing to gun
' violenice under ‘statutes other .than 18 U.S.C. §§ 922, 924; these cases are not

Tepresented in the firearms statistics totals.

. Many offenders, particularly in the PSN focus neighborhoods recognize
possessing or carrying a firéarm puts them at risk for. Federal prosecution.
-Although many of these offenders continue to contribute to firearms violence,
they are not armed when arrested or when a search warrant is executed. The
Firearms & Local. Impact Offenses section uses whatever Federal criminal
‘statutes may be reasonably available to impact violent crime, particularly crime in
the PSN focus neighborhoods. One example is a series of seven indictments
against 15 defendants operating a heroin distribution ring in the PSN focus area
unsealed July 28, 2005. These indictments charged few or no firearms charges,
so their numbers would not appear in the 18 U.S.C. §§ 922, 924 statistics.
Another example of charges not appearing in the EOUSA: firearms statistics is a
15-defendant machine gun indictment returried August 14, 2005. Just those two

- examples alone change the percentage drop from 31.4% to 15.4%. Researching
all the cases filed by the section would doubtless narrow the number even more
significantly. Another example of a more complex prosecution completed during
2005 is one begun by an Assistant when she was in the Narcotics & OCDETF
section and completed in May 2005, after she transferred to the Firearms & Local
Impact Offenses. This case began as a 10 defendant drug trafficking conspiracy,
and, on May 5, 2005, the three defendants who did not plead guilty were
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- convieted at trial, two of them on' firearms :cha'rges, as well as on drug charges..
The three have been sentenced: one to life in prison, plus 15 years; one to 15
years, and the other to 9 years. The preparation and trial took an estimated 6

- weeks. D : , : :

Although the Firearms & Local Impact Offenses section continues, when
appropriate, to adopt purely ‘reactive local cases, ‘the heroin indictments
. mentioned above illustrate a shift to more strategic, more sophisticated

investigations. :

* While the number of cases filed may be down from FY04 to FY05, more cases

were completed in FY05 (163 to 147 in FY04), a.10.9% increase in completed

cases. Since the number of cases indicted in FY04 (188) represented a 12.6%

increase over FY03(167), completing indicted cases reasonably shifts resources

from initiating new ones: The shift to more complex-multi-defendant cases
' makes measuring defendants charged a better indicator of performarice than
. measuring case initiations. When the number of defendants charged during this
period also decreased (260 in FY04 to 197 in FY 05, a 24.2% decrease), the
average number of defendants per case filed increased slightly from 1.38 per case
to 1.53 per case, and -this reported. increase does not include the defendants
charged with non-firearms violations, like most of the defendants in the examples
provided above. i .

Violent crime in the city of : - the most violent area in the district, is down
. significantly, which reasonably affects the number of cases prosecuted. Although
end-of-year numbers are not yet final, Part 1 firearms crime was down 12% from
" calendar year January 1, 2004 through December 3, 2005, and the two-year
decrease for the same period from 2003 to 2005 was 25%. The homicide rate for
the corresponding periods decreased 19% for one year, and 38% for two years.
~ The - - Police Department just announced the lowest homicide numbers
since 1964. - ' ' : -

Personnel losses and changes in personnel likely affected the number of cases
filed.

On March 25, 2005, a former AUSA in the Firearms & Local Impact Offenses
section, who had recently returned from maternity leave, resigned to stay af home
with her young children. This AUSA was not replaced until 6-10-05. The
replacement was an AUSA from the Narcotics & OCDETE section who broiight
her indicted cases from her former section with her. Another AUSA in the
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Firearms & Local Impact Offenses section was on materﬁity leave’ during 2005,
as well. - ' : - L : '

GAND answered the call for FISA help by detailing a different AUSA from the
. Firearms & Local Impact Offenses section to OIPR in-DC from November 15,
2004-May 12, 2005. ' N .

Finally, dixring FY05 one AUSA in the Firearms & Local Impact Offenses section’
began to prosecute internet preédators of children to fill a gap left when two

. AUSAs resigned. These AUSAs formerly handled almost all these cases in the
district. . - ’ . ) : '

This lack of resources in part reflects the lack of resources generally available in
the district to meet all of the Department's and local ptiorities.. As'ODAG is -
aware, GAND has fewer AUSAs to serve our district's very large and rapidly
growing population than most-districts. While the Department and the district
have dedicated significant resources to PSN, in the long run, the overall lack of
resources must produce a deleterious effect.

§ “G. _  District .

'lgisiriét' _ USAtomey | . 200 2003 | 2004 | 2005 | %Change | Remk
I S| a 9 | 11 | e _366% | s8
{ ATF Reforrals ' : 8 -] ot | 109 s | 403w H

The ‘District - * ‘a’s Federal firearms prosecutions fell significantly in

FY 2005, but the district has supported PSN historically, and it is still prosecuting far more
firearms cases than it was prior to FY 2004, I'recommend that the matter be discussed at a staff
level to obtain additional information about loc¢al crime trends and to monitor the district’s
performance. a : '

g has been the U.S. Attomey for the .
since April 2002. The district filed 64 Federal firearms cases in FY 2005 — more than a 36%
“decrease from the 101 cases filed in FY 2004, To place the latest number in context, though, 64
cases is still a substantial increase from the average-of 37 cases filed from FY 1994 through FY -
2003. The number of Federal firéarms defendants has been proportionate — 90 in FY 2005 down
from 141 in FY 2004 but substantially above any year dating back to FY 1994.
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Recerit crime: statistics aré not ayailéble in the UCR for the larger cities in the district:
: -and: ’ - )

_ The - district:- . " *3¢ommitment to PSN is evidert from the district’s’
October 2005 report to the Attorniey Genetal. The district’s task force includes a multitude of
State and local law enforcement partners, prosecutors, and probation offices. With the help of
designated prosecutors ini district attorneys’ offices, cases are screered to identify those that -
are eligible for and warrant Federal prosecution. Using statistical data, the district focuses its

- effotts in the ten counties that experience the most significant gun crime.

* The district reports a successful PSN initiative as measured by (1) firearms prosecution
humbers that are “at historic highs;” (2) reduced incidents of firearms violence in the counties
actively engaged in PSN; (3) the efficient distribution of approximately $900,000 in grant
funding that has facilitated prosecutions, provided equipment overtime pay to police

- departments, assisted battered women’s shelters, @nd promoted the PSN initiative through media
campaigns; and (4) knowledge that the district’s efforts have prevented crimes, held offenders -
" accountable, and helped victirns. - ) ) : : .

~ The dis&ict’s own evaluation E)_f its PSN initiative is as follows:

In those communities where PSN is active Violent crime is down and
anecdotal information  ties these violent crime reductions to our own efforts. -
Indeed, by every empirical measure which we have reviewed, our Project Safe
Neighborhoods. initiative is highly successful. Three statistics aptly illustrate the
suecess of this effort: First, this initiative has resulted in a significant increase in
firearms  presentations throughout the district, with firearms prosecutions

* increasing by more than 100% over the lifetime of this program. Second, thesé
prosecutions are exacting substantial sentefices, with 98% of the cases résulting in
prison terms and 56% of these prosecutions yielding jail terms exceeding 5 years.

. Third, this injtiative is fostering stronger, local, state and Federal partnerships
with moré than half of our district's county district attorneys actively participating
in the program in some fashion. Beyond these empirical measures of success,
anecdotal evidence indicates that-this district's initiative is having a concrete,
positive impact on the communities we serve.- Prosecutors [and] police agencies
report that arrested felons and drug traffickers are stating that they have refrained
from firearms possessions in order to avoid Federal prosecution. Morale among
local police agencies and prosecutors who are actively participating in this
program is extremiely high because those agencies can see the immediate benefits
which they are deriving from Project Safe Neighborhoods.

28

- DAG000000750



H. District .,

'liifi)is;r-ict_ T US Attom;ey B 2002 2003 w0t | 2005 | % Change Razk
| . 190 u6 [ an o 7% |
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. " Federal ﬁréarms brds‘ecutioné decreased in the o A 'By more than 37%

from FY 2004 to FY 2005. I am concerned about the degree of the decrease, but prosecution
 statistics are an inadequate basis on which to evaluate the effectiveness of this district’s PSN
"program. I advise against raising the issue'to the level of the Acting Deputy Attorney General

and the U.S. Attorney for the: =~ ° 7w ‘ : . o

The U.S. Attomey’s Office for the ; g prosecuted 170 Federal firearms
cases in FY 2005.— a 37.3% decrease from the 271 cases filed in FY 2004. The FY 2005 number
also is below the 246 cases in FY 2003 and the 190 cases filed in FY 2002, and it is essentially

“the same as the 165 cases filed in FY 2001. Itis, however, substantially higher than the average
-0f 108 cases filed from FY 1994 through FY 2000. Federal firearms defendant numbers are
proportionate — 292 in FY 2005, down from 333 in FY 2004 and 328 in FY 2003, but above the
243 in FY 2002 and the 153 in FY 2001. ATF referral numbers appear odd in the above chart
because they are lower than any of the numbers for cases filed. That is because the U.S.
Attorney’s Office works closely with the i S . 80 it is not unusual
“for a case to be brought directly from the local police to the U.S. Attorney’s Office. While the
"number of Federal firearms cases fell, it should be noted that the district experienced increased
conviction rates in 2005 — nearly 10% in Federal court and 11% in the local - loutt.

Accordingto the ] R . there were 195 homicides in
in 2005. While there is always room for improvement on homicide statistics, the.2005
number is the lowest in almiost 20 years and it represents a 20% decrease in the past two years.
There were 198 homicides in 2004, 246 in 2003, and 262 in 2002, The highest number was 474
-in 1990, and homicides averaged over 344 per year from 1986 through 2001. ‘The number of
child homicide victims fell in the district almost 50% from 24'in 2004 to 13 in 2005,

Violent crime decreased in the setween 2001 and 2004. According
to the data submitted to the FBI, non-homicide violent crimes (Rape, Robbery, and Aggravated
Assaults) in went from 8,961 in 2001 to 8,847 in 2002 (down 1.2%), to 8,591'in
2003 (down 2.9%), to 7,138 in 2004 (down 16.9%). According to preliminary data from the

. " there were 7,612 non-homicide violent crimes in the "~ in
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--2005 — an inctrease of 6.6%. However, the police departmeént warns that this preliminary data is
preliminary and is not necessarily what will be reported to the FBI for the UCR. In addition, the
categories are different — instead of the “forcible Tape, fobbery, and aggravated assault”
categories listed in the 2004 report, the 2005 statistics list “sexual assault, robbery, and assault
with a deadly weapon.” =~ . . - S ’ ' '

tbecame the U.S. Attorney in May 2004. Having

- started as a line prosecutor in the office, he has ample respect from his colleagues. As you are
aware; """ 7 7 7" .has been involved in PSN as the former Director -

-and he has actively supported thé Department through the Attorney General’s Advisory
Comnimittee, the Attorney General’s Anti-Gang Coordinating Committee, and elsewhere. Asa

" forriier AUSA in his office, I can attest to the pressure he receives from the U.S. District Court
bench about the large volume of firearms cases brought there.

The U.S. Attomey’s Office forAth.e (U

o S .. One reason for the decreasing number of. |

~ Federal firearms cases is that the .. ’ecently adopted sentencing guidelines.
Although the guidelines are “voluntary,” most of the judges apply them. Because the district

.now has reasonable expectations about sentences in local court, it is able to focus Federal.
prosecutions on offenders with more substantial criminal histories and on those who are more ]

" likely to have information about gang members and other crimes, Also, because firearms
offenses are detainable in’ . thereis atactical incentive to bring cases there when -
the case does not involve drug of other offenses that might detain a defendant in Federal court,
The U.S. Attomey’s Office. also recently restructured its Federal court sections, forming a
separate section to prosecute most arrest-driven Federal crimes. :

_ The district’s Community Prosecution Section has made substantial efforts to coordinate

and focus law enforcement efforts, and its AUSAs have been heavily involved in public outreach

* efforts -- attending neighborhood meetings and spending a portion of their time at offices in each
of the _ -seven police district stations. The " October 2005 PSN report to the
. Attorney General describes its law enforcement coordination, media outreach, community -

involvement, and research-driven focus
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IEmct | | us. Attoraey 1 2.60_2  2003 26_04 | 2005 | '_.%Chang: i Rank ]
i , 1_ C 16 4 20 12 -40.0% : 907
'IﬁFRefenalé o [ 1 | [ s R 26_ e , 80%_]

. - Federal firearms prosecﬁﬁon numbers in the Distn'ét : ‘féll bya

" As of the date of Pryor’s memorax_idum, the local government had changed, and the
district was again receiving firearms cases from the Jocal police. - The FY 2004 statistics confirm

* that the district was again prosecuting a substantia] number of firearms cases for-its size - it filed

to then fall in FY 2005 to 12 cases, particularly in light of increased ATF referrals, While the
number of cases filed was a 40% drop from FY 2004, it was still triple the number of cases in
FY 2003. The number of Federal firearms defendants was proportiondte — 13 in FY 2005 down

from 25 in FY 2004,
Crime statistics are not available in for the” in the FBI’s UCR.
U.S. Attorney : has held his position since June 2005. Former .S,
* Attorney* L Iésigned w August 2004. When the district’s main DOJ PSN point of
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X . District

Diswict | US. Attorney 200 | 2003 ] 2004 | 2005 | %Change | Fank
i . o183 o129 43 ] g3 420% | 91
i :
ETF_Refemls - o285 | a9 - 218 I 171 l -21.5%—]
- The: Districi 4 PSN progtam is activé and healthy.- While the

number of cases filed slipped cbns'iﬁerably in FY 2005, the number of Federal firearms
defendants tells a different story — the district had its second highest year since FY 1995, I
recommeénd that there be no additional follow-up. - . g :

' - . 'hasbeen the U.S. Attorney for the ; B ,
 since the Fall of 2002. Federal Firearms cases filed by the district fell 42% from 143 in FY 2004
" to 83 in FY 2005. The FY 2005 fumber was the lowest since FY 2000, However, the number of

Federal firearms defendants increased from 229 in FY 2004 to 238 in FY 2005. With the

exception of the 256 defendants in FY 2002, this was the highest number since FY 1995. It also
is worth noting that the ATF referred fewer cases in FY 2005 than it did in FY 2004, although it
is unclear whether the cases referred in FY 2005 involved more co-defendants. T

According to the FBI’s UCR data comparing ‘ * ctime statistics for the first
half of 2005 to the same period in 2004, homicides decreased by 14 percent (from 278 in 2004 to
238 in 2005), and Violent crime numbers decreased by 3%. Those numbers are imperfect, not
only because of their limited time frame, but because the : o . is contained in both

o . The statistics are of some value in determining
the general trend in the area. :

. The district’s PSN report to the Attorney General in October 2005 demonstrates that the

 district is engaged in the initiative, It identifies a long list of partners that include the ATF, FBL,
"DEA, USMS, Weed and Seed, and a host of local law enforcement partnersin *. - and

S The district and its local partners screen arrests to identify appropriate Federal

" cases, and local prosecutors have been cross-designated to prosecute firearms cases, federally,
The district provides detailed numbers. for the more than 3,000 firearms cases prosecuted locally
by its partners in 2004 and 2005, and it provides factual details about high-profile organized
crime, MS-13, and other cases that started as PSN cases. The district has determined that its two
most significant sources of gun violence are gangs and drugs. It does not list “illegal
Possession” as one of the offenses on which its efforts are focused. Rather, the task force
focuses on all firearms offenses in focused areas (usually coinciding with Weed and Seed sites),
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